COLORADO REVISED STATUTES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

37-91-101. LEGISLATIVE DECLARATION	. 2
37-91-102. DEFINITIONS	.2
37-91-103. STATE BOARD OF EXAMINERS OF WATER WELL CONSTRUCTION AND PUMP INSTALLATION CONTRACTORS	. 5
37-91-104. DUTIES OF THE BOARD	. 6
37-91-105. LICENSING - REGISTRATION OF RIGS	. 8
37-91-106. PERSONS PREVIOUSLY LICENSED - EXEMPTIONS	. 10
37-91-107. FEES AND BONDS - LICENSE RENEWAL - CONTINUING EDUCATION	10
37-91-108. DENIAL, REVOCATION, OR SUSPENSION OF LICENSE	. 12
37-91-109. FURTHER SCOPE OF ARTICLE - ORDERS - PENALTIES	14
37-91-110. BASIC PRINCIPLES AND MINIMUM STANDARDS	. 14
37-91-111. VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES	. 15
37-91-112. INJUNCTIVE PROCEEDINGS	. 16
37-91-113. WELL INSPECTION PROGRAM	. 17

COLORADO REVISED STATUTES

TITLE 37. WATER AND IRRIGATION WATER RIGHTS AND IRRIGATION

ARTICLE 91. WATER WELL CONSTRUCTION AND PUMP INSTALLATION CONTRACTORS

C.R.S. (2017)

37-91-101. Legislative declaration

- (1) The general assembly hereby finds, determines, and declares that:
- (a) It has been established by scientific evidence that improperly constructed wells, improperly abandoned wells, and improperly installed pumping equipment can adversely affect groundwater resources and the public health, safety, and welfare; and
- (b) Therefore, the proper location, construction, repair, and abandonment of wells, the proper installation and repair of pumping equipment, the licensing and regulation of persons engaging in the business of contracting either for the construction of wells or for the installation of pumping equipment, and the periodic inspection of well construction and pump installation are essential for the protection of the public health and the preservation of groundwater resources.

Source: L. 67: p. 691, § 1. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-1. L. 85: Entire section amended, p. 1180, § 1, effective July 1. L. 2003: Entire section amended, p. 1675, § 1, effective May 14.

37-91-102. Definitions

As used in this article, unless the context otherwise requires:

- (1) and (2) Repealed.
- (3) "Board" means the state board of examiners of water well construction and pump installation contractors created by section 37-91-103.

- (4) "Construction of wells" means any act undertaken at the well site for the establishment or modification of a well, including, without limitation, the location of the well and the excavation or fracturing thereof but not including surveying or other acts preparatory thereto, site preparation and modification or site modification, or the installation of pumping equipment.
- (4.5) "Dewatering well" includes any excavation that is drilled, cored, bored, washed, fractured, driven, dug, jetted, or otherwise constructed when the intended use of such excavation is for temporary dewatering purposes for construction only.
- (4.7) "Directly employed" means engaged in employment where the employer is responsible for and directly controls the performance of the employee, and, where applicable, the employee is covered by workers' compensation and unemployment compensation. "Directly employed" does not refer to independent contractors or subcontractors.
- (5) and (6) Repealed.
- (7) "Groundwater" means any water not visible on the surface of the ground under natural conditions.
- (8) "Installation of pumping equipment" means the selection, placement, and preparation for operation of pumping equipment, including all construction involved in entering the well and establishing well seals and safeguards to protect groundwater from contamination.
- (9) Repealed.
- (10) "License" means the document issued by the board to qualified persons making application therefor, pursuant to section 37-91-105, authorizing such persons to engage in one or more methods of well construction or pump installation or any combination of such methods.
- (10.5) "Monitoring and observation well" includes any excavation that is drilled, cored, bored, washed, fractured, driven, dug, jetted, or otherwise constructed when the intended use of such excavation is for locating such well, pumping equipment or aquifer testing, monitoring groundwater, or collection of water quality samples.
- (11) Repealed.
- (11.5) "Person" means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, a municipality, the state, the United States, or any other legal entity, public or private.

- (12) "Private driller" means any individual, corporation, partnership, association, political subdivision, or public agency that uses equipment owned by it to dig, drill, redrill, case, recase, deepen, or excavate a well entirely for its own use upon property owned by it.
- (12.5) "Private pump installer" means any individual, corporation, partnership, association, political subdivision, or public agency that uses equipment owned by it to install pumping equipment on a well entirely for its own use on property owned by it.
- (13) "Pumping equipment" means any pump or related equipment used or intended for use in withdrawing or obtaining groundwater, including, but not limited to, well seals, pitless adapters, and other safeguards to protect the groundwater from contamination and any waterlines up to and including the pressure tank and any coupling appurtenant thereto.
- (14) "Pump installation contractor" means any person licensed to install, remove, modify, or repair pumping equipment for compensation.
- (15) "Repair" means any change, replacement, or other alteration of any well or pumping equipment which requires a breaking or opening of the well seal or any waterlines up to and including the pressure tank and any coupling appurtenant thereto.
- (15.5) "Supervision" means personal and continuous on-the-site direction by a licensed well construction contractor or licensed pump installation contractor, unless the licensed contractor has applied for and received from the board an exemption from continuous on-the-site direction for a specific task.
- (15.7) "Test hole" includes any excavation that is drilled, cored, bored, washed, fractured, driven, dug, jetted, or otherwise constructed when the intended use of such excavation is for geotechnical, geophysical, or geologic investigation or soil- or rock-sampling.
- (16) (a) "Well" for the purpose of this article means any test hole or other excavation that is drilled, cored, bored, washed, fractured, driven, dug, jetted, or otherwise constructed for the purpose of location, monitoring, dewatering, observation, diversion, artificial recharge, or acquisition of groundwater for beneficial use or for conducting pumping equipment or aquifer tests.
- (b) (I) "Well" does not include certain types of monitoring and observation wells, dewatering wells, and test holes that the board specifies in rules and regulations in order to allow for their construction, utilization, and abandonment by other than a well construction contractor, nor does such term include an excavation made for the purpose of obtaining or prospecting for minerals or those wells subject to the jurisdiction of the oil and gas conservation commission, as provided in article 60 of title 34, C.R.S., or those wells subject to the jurisdiction of the office of mined land reclamation, as provided in article 33 of title 34, C.R.S.

- (II) "Well" does not include a naturally flowing spring or springs where the natural spring discharge is captured or concentrated by installation of a near-surface structure or device less than ten feet in depth located at or within fifty feet of the spring or springs' natural discharge point and the water is conveyed directly by gravity flow or into a separate sump or storage, if the owner obtains a water right for such structure or device as a spring pursuant to article 92 of this title.
- (17) "Well construction contractor" means any person licensed pursuant to this article and responsible for the construction, test-pumping, or development of wells, either by contract or for hire or for any consideration whatsoever.
- (18) "Well seal" means an approved arrangement or device used to cover a well or to establish and maintain a junction between the casing or curbing of a well and the piping or equipment installed therein, the purpose or function of which is to prevent contaminated water or other material from entering the well at the upper terminal.

Source: L. 67: p. 691, § 2. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-2. L. 85: (3), (4), (8), (10), (12), (15), and (18) amended, (4.5), (4.7), (10.5), (11.5), (12.5), (15.5), and (15.7) added, (13), (14), (16), and (17) R&RE, and (1), (2), (5), (6), (9), and (11) repealed, pp. 1180, 1182, 1189, § § 2, 3, 16, effective July 1. L. 90: (4.7) amended, p. 574, § 71, effective July 1. L. 92: (16) amended, p. 1971, § 78, effective July 1. L. 95: (16) amended, p. 140, § 3, effective April 7. L. 2003: (4.7), (8), (10), (12), (12.5), (13), (14), (15.5), and (16)(a) amended, p. 1675, § 2, effective May 14.

37-91-103. State board of examiners of water well construction and pump installation contractors

(1) There is created, under the division of water resources in the department of natural resources, a state board of examiners of water well construction and pump installation contractors, consisting of five members and comprised of the following persons: The state engineer or a representative designated by him; a representative of the department of health designated by the executive director of the department; and three members appointed by the governor, two of whom shall be well construction contractors or pump installation contractors, each with a minimum of ten years' experience in the well construction or pump installation business preceding his appointment, and one of whom shall be an engineer or geologist with a minimum of ten years' experience in water supply and well construction preceding his appointment.

- (2) All members shall be appointed for four-year terms, but no member shall be reappointed to or serve more than two consecutive four-year terms. Any vacancy occurring in the board membership of the governor's appointees, other than by expiration, shall be filled by the governor by appointment for the unexpired term. Members shall serve without compensation but shall be reimbursed for actual expenses necessarily incurred in their official business.
- (3) The board shall meet at least once every three months and at such other times as it deems necessary or advisable. Special board meetings may be called at any time on order of the chairman or vice-chairman or any three members of the board. The board shall determine the time and place of all meetings, but at least one meeting every three months shall be held in Denver. Three members of the board shall constitute a quorum, and the affirmative vote of three members shall be required to pass any action or motion of the board. The board may adopt bylaws to govern its own procedure.

Source: L. 67: p. 693, § 3. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-3. L. 68: p. 129, § 142. L. 85: (1) amended, p. 1182, § 4, effective July 1. L. 2003: (2) and (3) amended, p. 1677, § 3, effective May 14.

37-91-104. Duties of the board

- (1) The board shall:
- (a) Be responsible for the administration of this article and, with respect to such administration, shall enforce the provisions of this article and any rules adopted pursuant thereto and shall take such other actions as may be reasonably necessary to carry out the provisions of this article;
- (b) Have general supervision and authority over the construction and abandonment of wells and the installation of pumping equipment, as provided by sections 37-91-109 and 37-91-110;
- (c) Adopt, and from time to time revise, such rules, not inconsistent with law, as may be necessary to effectuate the provisions of this article, all such rules to be adopted in accordance with article 4 of title 24, C.R.S.;
- (d) Employ, within funds available, personnel necessary for the proper performance of its work under this article;
- (e) Examine for, deny, approve, revoke, suspend, and renew the licenses of applicants and licensees as provided in this article;

- (f) Conduct hearings upon its own motion or upon receipt of written complaints with respect to any licensee under this article and with respect to the denial, revocation, or suspension of a license, all such hearings to be conducted in conformity with article 4 of title 24, C.R.S. The board may have such hearings conducted before a hearing officer or administrative law judge from the department of personnel designated by the board, who is technically qualified to conduct or assist in such hearings and who may be a member of the board.
- (g) Repealed.
- (h) Cause the prosecution and enjoinder of all persons violating this article;
- (i) Disseminate information to pump installation contractors and well construction contractors in order to protect and preserve the groundwater resources of the state;
- (j) Promulgate rules and regulations pursuant to article 4 of title 24, C.R.S., to allow certain types of monitoring and observation wells, dewatering wells, and test holes to be constructed, utilized, and abandoned by other than a well construction contractor;
- (k) Adopt, and revise as necessary, such rules regarding the construction, use, and abandonment of monitoring and observation wells, dewatering wells, and test holes necessary to safeguard the public health of the people of Colorado. All such rules shall be adopted in accordance with article 4 of title 24, C.R.S. The board may require that such wells or holes be designed, constructed, used, or abandoned by a licensed professional engineer, professional geologist, licensed well construction contractor, or anyone directly employed by or under the supervision of one of these individuals.
- (l) (I) Assure protection of groundwater resources and the public health by ordering the nondestructive investigation, abandonment, repair, drilling, redrilling, casing, recasing, deepening, or excavation of a well where it finds such action to be necessary to correct violations of this article or rules promulgated by the board with respect to this article or to protect groundwater resources and the public health.
- (II) Existing wells that were constructed in compliance with the laws and regulations in effect at the time of their construction shall not be required to be repaired, redrilled, or otherwise modified to meet the current standards for well construction contained in this article or the rules adopted by the board. Any such wells that present an imminent threat to public health or groundwater contamination may be ordered to be repaired or abandoned. The remedial action required by the board for such wells shall be the minimum repair necessary to remove the threat to public health or of groundwater pollution. An order to abandon a well that is issued under this article is not a determination of intent to abandon any water right associated with the well.

- (2) The board may delegate to the state engineer the authority to perform any of the duties of the board as set forth in this article, except those duties authorized in paragraphs (c), (e), (j), and (k) of subsection (1) of this section.
- : Source: L. 67: p. 693, § 4. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-4. L. 83: (1)(g) amended, p. 844, § 77, effective July 1. L. 85: (1)(b), (1)(f), and (1)(h) amended and (2) added, p. 1183, § § 5, 6, effective July 1. L. 87: (1)(f) amended, p. 976, § 99, effective March 13. L. 95: (1)(f) amended, p. 666, § 106, effective July 1. L. 96: (1)(g) repealed, p. 1216, § 5, effective August 7. L. 2003: (1)(l) added, p. 1677, § 4, effective May 14. L. 2004: (1)(k) amended, p. 1315, § 69, effective May 28.

37-91-105. Licensing - registration of rigs

- (1) Every person, before engaging in the business of contracting either for the construction of wells or for the installation of pumping equipment, shall obtain a license for one or more methods of well construction or pump installation from the board and shall secure a registration from the board for each well-drilling or pump-installing rig to be operated or leased by him or his employee.
- (2) The board shall issue a license to each applicant who files an application upon a form and in such manner as the board prescribes, accompanied by such fees and bond as required by section 37-91-107, and who furnishes evidence satisfactory to the board that the applicant:
- (a) Is at least twenty-one years of age;
- (b) Is a citizen of the United States or has declared his intention to become a citizen;
- (c) (Deleted by amendment, L. 2003, p. 1678, § 5, effective May 14, 2003.)
- (d) Has had not less than two years' experience in the type of well construction work or pump installation work for which the applicant is initially applying for a license; however:
- (I) Once a person is licensed in one or more methods of well construction, the person is eligible without further experience to take an examination to obtain a license for a different method of well construction;
- (II) Once a person is licensed for installing one or more types of pumps, the person is eligible without further experience to take an examination to obtain a license for a different type of pump installation; and
- (III) Education in an accredited program approved by the board may substitute for well construction or pump installation experience upon application to and acceptance by the board;

- (e) Demonstrates professional competence by passing a written and oral examination prescribed by the board.
- (2.5) The board shall issue a special license for the use of special equipment or limited procedures in well construction or pump installation to each applicant who files an application upon a form and in such manner as the board prescribes, accompanied by such fees and bond as are required by section 37-91-107, and who furnishes evidence satisfactory to the board that he meets the requirements established in subsection (2) of this section; except that a special licensee shall not be eligible to take an examination to obtain a license for a different method of well construction or pump installation unless said licensee has at least two years of experience in the method of well construction or pump installation for which the additional license is sought.
- (3) Upon investigation of the application and other evidence submitted, the board shall, not less than thirty days prior to the examination, notify each applicant that the application and evidence submitted for licensing is satisfactory and accepted, or unsatisfactory and rejected; if rejected, said notice shall state the reasons for such rejection.
- (4) The place of examination shall be designated in advance by the board and shall be given annually and at such other times as, in the opinion of the board, the number of applicants warrants.
- (5) The examination shall consist of an oral and written examination and shall fairly test the applicant's knowledge and application thereof in the following subjects: Basics of drilling methods, specific drilling methods, basics of pump installation methods, specific pump installation methods, and basics of well construction and his knowledge and application of state laws and local ordinances concerning the construction of wells or the installation of pumping equipment, or both, and rules promulgated in connection therewith.
- (6) If an applicant fails to receive a passing grade on the examination, the applicant may reapply for examination after forty-five days and shall pay a reexamination fee upon such reapplication.
- (7) Each licensee shall complete eight hours of continuing education training as approved by the board every year in order to maintain or renew a license.

Source: L. 67: p. 694, § 5. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-5. L. 73: p. 531, § 82. L. 85: (1), (2)(d), and (4) to (6) amended, p. 1184, § 7, effective July 1. L. 89: (1) amended and (2.5) added, p. 1428, § 1, effective April 7. L. 2003: IP(2), (2)(c), (2)(d), and (6) amended and (7) added, p. 1678, § 5, effective May 14.

37-91-106. Persons previously licensed - exemptions

- (1) (Deleted by amendment, L. 2003, p. 1678, § 6, effective May 14, 2003.)
- (2) A license shall not be required of any person who performs labor or services if he is directly employed by, or under the supervision of, a licensed well construction contractor or pump installation contractor.
- (3) Private drillers and private pump installers are exempt from all license requirements under this article; except that such entities shall be required to comply with minimum construction standards as required by section 37-91-110 and the rules of the board.
- (4) A license shall not be required of a professional engineer, professional geologist, or professional hydrologist or anyone directly employed by, or under the supervision of, a professional engineer, professional geologist, or professional hydrologist for the purpose of sampling, measuring, or test-pumping for scientific, engineering, or regulatory purposes. The board may promulgate rules governing such sampling, measuring, or test-pumping, and all such sampling, measuring, or test-pumping shall be done in compliance with such rules.

Source: L. 67: p. 695, § 6. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-6. L. 85: Entire section amended, p. 1184, § 8, effective July 1. L. 2003: (1), (3), and (4) amended, p. 1678, § 6, effective May 14. L. 2005: (3) amended, p. 157, § 1, effective April 5.

37-91-107. Fees and bonds - license renewal - continuing education

- (1) All fees from applicants seeking a license under this article, and all renewal fees, shall be transmitted to the state treasurer, who shall credit the same to the well inspection cash fund created in section 37-80-111.5. No fees shall be refunded. A license shall be nontransferable and unassignable.
- (2) The board shall charge an application fee of twenty dollars to accompany each application from a resident of the state of Colorado and a further fee of fifty dollars upon successful completion of examination before issuance of a license. In addition, each successful resident applicant shall file and maintain with the board evidence of financial responsibility, in the form of a savings account, deposit, or certificate of deposit, in the amount of ten thousand dollars, meeting the requirements of section 11-35-101, C.R.S., or an irrevocable letter of credit for the amount of ten thousand dollars, meeting the requirements of section 11-35-101.5, C.R.S., or shall file and maintain with the board an approved compliance bond with a corporate surety authorized to do business in the state of Colorado, in the amount of ten thousand dollars, for the use and benefit of any person or the state of Colorado suffering loss or damage, conditioned that such licensee will comply with the laws of the state of Colorado in engaging in the business for which he

receives a license and the rules of the board promulgated in the regulation of such business.

- (3) The board shall charge an application fee of fifty dollars to accompany each application from a nonresident of the state of Colorado and a further nonresident fee of four hundred dollars upon successful completion of examination before issuance of a license. In addition, each successful nonresident applicant shall file and maintain with the board evidence of financial responsibility, in the form of a savings account, deposit, or certificate of deposit in the amount of twenty thousand dollars, meeting the requirements of section 11-35-101, C.R.S., or shall file and maintain with the board an approved compliance bond in the amount of twenty thousand dollars with a corporate surety authorized to do business in the state of Colorado for the use and benefit of any person or the state of Colorado suffering loss or damage, conditioned that such licensee will comply with the laws of the state in engaging in the business for which he receives a license and the rules of the board promulgated in compliance therewith.
- (3.5) The board shall not set the application and license fees in subsections (2) and (3) of this section at amounts greater than becomes necessary to further the purposes of this article. Such amounts shall not exceed the direct and indirect costs of the board in administering the provisions of this article.
- (3.7) The board is authorized to set the bond amounts in subsections (2) and (3) of this section at higher amounts if such an increase becomes necessary to further the purposes of this article.
- (4) Every licensed well construction contractor and licensed pump installation contractor in this state shall pay to the board during the month of January of each year, beginning in the year immediately subsequent to his or her initial licensing, a renewal fee of fifty dollars, shall concurrently file and maintain a new bond or letter of credit if required pursuant to this section, and shall annually file a certificate of completion of continuing education as required pursuant to section 37-91-105 (7). The secretary shall thereupon issue a renewal license for one year. The license of any well construction contractor or pump installation contractor who fails to have his or her license renewed during the month of January in each year shall lapse. Any lapsed license may be renewed, without reexamination, within a period of one year after such lapse upon payment of all fees in arrears. Licensees may elect to renew their licenses and file and maintain a bond or letter of credit for a term of up to three years, paying fifty dollars for each year the license will be in effect.

- (4.5) A licensee shall maintain the amount of financial responsibility required by subsections (2), (3), and (4) of this section for the life of the license for which the financial responsibility is required. The license of any well construction contractor or pump installation contractor who fails to maintain such financial responsibility shall lapse. A license that has so lapsed may be reinstated upon submission of current evidence of the required financial responsibility to the board and payment to the board of a one-hundred-dollar reinstatement fee.
- (5) The board shall charge an annual registration fee of ten dollars for each well drilling or pump installation rig to be operated in the state of Colorado.
- (6) The board shall, no later than January 7, 2007, develop a continuing education program in conjunction with the Colorado water well contractors association or any analogous or successor organization.

Source: L. 67: p. 695, § 7. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-7. L. 79: (3) amended, p. 426, § 19, effective July 1. L. 85: (2), (3), (4), and (5) amended and (3.5) and (3.7) added, p. 1185, § 9, effective July 1. L. 87: (2), (3), (3.7), and (4) amended, p. 491, § 42, effective July 1. L. 89: (2), (3), and (4) amended and (4.5) added, p. 1428, § 2, effective April 7. L. 2003: (1), (4), (4.5), and (5) amended and (6) added, p. 1679, § 7, effective May 14.

37-91-108. Denial, revocation, or suspension of license

- (1) The board, by an affirmative vote of three of its five members, may withhold, deny, revoke, or suspend any license issued or applied for in accordance with the provisions of this article, upon proof that the licensee or applicant:
- (a) Has used fraud or deception in applying for a license or in taking an examination provided for in this article;
- (b) Has willfully or negligently violated any of the provisions of this article or of the "Colorado Groundwater Management Act";
- (c) Has failed to comply with minimum standards prescribed by section 37-91-110 or the rules of the board promulgated with respect to this article;
- (d) Has knowingly constructed a well or installed pumping equipment without a valid permit;
- (e) Has knowingly filed with the division of water resources a document containing untrue statements;

- (f) Has used fraud or deception in collecting fees from persons with whom he has contracted for well construction or pump installation;
- (g) Has failed to submit a well completion report or a pump installation report pursuant to the requirement therefor in the rules and regulations of the board;
- (h) Has authorized a person, not directly employed or directly supervised by the licensee, to construct wells or install pumping equipment under the authority of the licensee's license; or
- (i) Has failed to complete the continuing education requirement established in section 37-91-107 within one year after the establishment of such requirement.
- (2) No license shall be withheld, denied, revoked, or suspended except in conformity with article 4 of title 24, C.R.S.
- (3) A hearing upon a complaint may be initiated only if the complaint was filed with the board within two years of the filing of the completion report for the well or pumping equipment, the construction or installation of which formed the basis of the complaint. If no completion report was filed, a hearing upon the complaint may be initiated only if the complaint was filed with the board within two years of the discovery of the violation or defect that constituted the grounds for the complaint.
- (4) The board may order the nondestructive investigation, abandonment, repair, drilling, redrilling, casing, recasing, deepening, or excavation of a well to protect groundwater resources and the public health if the board finds such action to be necessary to correct violations of article 90 of this title, this article, or the rules promulgated by the board pursuant to this article.
- (5) The board may assess fines of not less than fifty dollars nor more than one thousand dollars for violations of article 90 of this title, this article, or the rules promulgated by the board pursuant to this article for each such violation. Such fines shall be transmitted to the state treasurer, who shall credit them to the well inspection cash fund created in section 37-80-111.5.

Source: L. 67: p. 696, § 8. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-8. L. 85: (1)(c) amended and (1)(d) to (1)(h) and (3) added, p. 1186, § § 10, 11, effective July 1. L. 2003: (1)(h) amended and (1)(i), (4), and (5) added, p. 1680, § § 8, 9, effective May 14.

37-91-109. Further scope of article - orders - penalties

- (1) In addition to the licensing of well construction contractors and pump installation contractors as required by this article, no well shall be located, constructed, repaired, or abandoned and no pumping equipment shall be installed or repaired contrary to the provisions of this article and applicable rules of the board promulgated to effectuate the purposes of this article. The board may by order require any licensee, private driller, or private pump installer to remedy any such noncompliant installation, construction, or repair and may, pursuant to rules and after due notice and a hearing, impose penalties for such noncompliance. The provisions of this article shall apply to any well or any pumping equipment not otherwise subject to regulation under the laws of this state and to any distribution, observation, monitoring, or dewatering of water therefrom; but this article shall not apply to any distribution of water beyond the point of discharge from the pressure tank or to any distribution of water beyond the point of discharge from the pumping equipment if no pressure tank or an overhead pressure tank is employed.
- (2) Only a licensed pump installation contractor may install a cistern or other water storage tank between the wellhead and the pressure tank or downstream of the wellhead if no pressure tank is utilized.

Source: L. 67: p. 696, § 9. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-9. L. 85: Entire section amended, p. 1187, § 12, effective July 1. L. 2003: Entire section amended, p. 1680, § 10, effective May 14.

37-91-110. Basic principles and minimum standards

- (1) The following basic principles, general in scope and fundamental in character, shall govern the construction, repair, or abandonment of any well and the installation or repair of any pumping equipment:
- (a) Water wells shall be:
- (I) Located in such manner that the well and its surroundings can be kept in a sanitary condition;
- (II) Adequate in size to permit the installation of pumping equipment to produce the volume of water sought to be obtained in compliance with the well permit;
- (III) Constructed or abandoned in such a manner as to maintain natural protection against pollution of water-bearing formations and to exclude known sources of contamination;

- (b) The pumping equipment shall be:
- (I) Located in such a manner that the pump and its surroundings can be kept in a sanitary condition;
- (II) Selected, constructed, and installed: To meet the water yield and drawdown characteristic of the well; to be durable and reliable in character; of such material that no toxic or otherwise objectionable condition will be created in the water; in such a manner that continued operation without priming is assured at the time of installation; and to provide adequate protection against pollution of any character from any surface or subsurface source.
- (2) The board shall adopt and may, from time to time, amend rules and regulations reasonably necessary to insure the proper construction or proper abandonment of wells and the proper installation of pumping equipment. The board has the authority to require the filing of information and reports relating to the construction or abandonment of wells and the installation of pumping equipment whenever it may deem such action to be necessary.
- (3) All wells shall be constructed or abandoned and all pumping equipment shall be installed in compliance with this article and with the rules and regulations promulgated by the board.

Source: L. 67: p. 696, § 10. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-10. L. 85: IP(1), (1)(a)(II), (1)(a)(III), and (2) amended and (3) added, p. 1187, § 13, effective July 1.

37-91-111. Violations and penalties

- (1) It is unlawful:
- (a) For any person to represent himself as a well construction contractor or a pump installation contractor who is not licensed under this article or to so represent himself after his license has been suspended or revoked or has lapsed;
- (b) For any person not licensed under this article to advertise or issue any sign, card, or other device which would indicate that he is a well construction contractor or a pump installation contractor;
- (c) For any person not licensed or whose license is suspended to construct wells unless he is a private driller or directly employed by or under the supervision of a licensed well construction contractor;

- (d) For any person not licensed or whose license is suspended to install pumping equipment unless he is a private pump installer or directly employed by or under the supervision of a licensed pump installation contractor, except as excluded pursuant to section 37-91-106 (4); or
- (e) For any person to otherwise violate any of the provisions of this article.
- (2) Any person who violates any provision of subsection (1) of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars, or by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than ninety days, or by both such fine and imprisonment.
- (3) Any person who violates any provision of subsection (1) of this section shall also be subject to a civil penalty assessed by the court of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than five thousand dollars for each such violation. All civil penalties collected under this subsection (3) shall be transmitted to the state treasurer, who shall credit the same to the well inspection cash fund created in section 37-80-111.5.

Source: L. 67: p. 697, § 11. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-11. L. 85: Entire section amended, p. 1188, § 14, effective July 1. L. 2003: (3) amended, p. 1681, § 11, effective May 14.

37-91-112. Injunctive proceedings

- (1) The board may, through the attorney general of the state of Colorado, apply for civil penalties and for an injunction to enjoin any person from committing any act declared to be unlawful by this article. Such application shall be heard in the district court in which the grounds for the injunction arose.
- (2) Such injunctive proceedings shall be in addition to and not in lieu of any other penalty or remedy provided in this article.
- (3) In such proceedings, if the court enters a temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction, or permanent injunction or awards civil penalties, the person against whom such injunctive order was entered or against whom such civil penalties were awarded shall pay the costs of the proceeding, including reasonable attorney fees.

Source: L. 67: p. 697, § 12. C.R.S. 1963: § 148-20-12. L. 85: (1) amended and (3) added, p. 1188, § 15, effective July 1.

37-91-113. Well inspection program

- (1) The state engineer shall monitor compliance with this article, including by inspecting water well construction and pump installation, and may employ inspectors for such purpose. The costs of such monitoring and inspection shall be paid from the well inspection cash fund created by section 37-80-111.5.
- (2) Inspectors shall have the following qualifications, but need not be licensed pursuant to this article:
- (a) Knowledge of proper well construction and pump installation techniques and practices;
- (b) Drill site experience;
- (c) Computer skills;
- (d) Interpersonal skills; and
- (e) Knowledge of all applicable statutes and rules.
- (3) Inspectors shall annually spend a majority of their time conducting field inspections and a minority of their time preparing and evaluating reports and related office work. Duties shall include the following:
- (a) Well construction and pump installation inspection and observation;
- (b) Complaint investigation;
- (c) Education and outreach;
- (d) Inspection and observation of geotechnical wells, observation and monitoring wells, dewatering wells, and test holes;
- (e) Field inspections of existing wells and pumps;
- (f) Field inspections of well and hole plugging and abandonment; and
- (g) Staff support for the state engineer and board.

Source: L. 2003: Entire section added, p. 1681, § 12, effective May 14.